1979

# International Harvester Credit Corporation v. Pioneer Tractor & Implement, Inc., Wayne A. Schoenfeld and Dora C. Schoenfeld : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff sued the defendants upon wholesale notes and an open account assigned to plaintiff by International Harvester Company. Defendants denied any balance due alleging various defenses and joined International Harvester Company upon a third party complaint. Defendants appeal from an adverse judgment.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial Court denied defendant's request for a jury trial, allowed in the record various matters of evidence to which objection was made by counsel, and from said evidence made adverse findings of fact, conclusions of law and a judgment adverse to defendants. A motion to amend the findings, conclusions of law and judgment or in the alternative, for a new trial was denied.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek reduction of the judgment of those items not proved in accordance with the rules of evidence and the law applicable to the facts of this case, or in the alternative, for a new trial on all issues with a jury.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff commenced this action upon a complaint alleging that the plaintiff financed the purchase of parts and equipment upon open account and wholesale notes by the defendant Pioneer Tractor, alleging that credit was given for equipment returned, and that after applying all proper offsets, leaving a balance due of \$27,012.43. Exhibit "B" which was alleged to be an itemization of said balance was merely an invoice from International Harvester Company upon which is handwritten the figures of:

"\$ 21,962.64	Balance account
1,006.86	Jones interest charged back
<u>4,311.81</u>	Balance notes
\$ 27,281.31	Total due
- <u>268.88</u>	Less interest back
<u>\$ 27,012.43"</u>	(R. 155)

Thereafter the defendants filed an answer, and requested that the plaintiff produce all documents, letters, memoranda, notices of sale or any other writings of any nature whatsoever, which plaintiff has in its possession which arose out of the transaction sued upon herein. (R. 131).

Exhibit "C" also attached to the complaint (R. 159) purports to be a demand upon the account made demand for "\$22,700.62 charged on account" together with the alleged balance on notes.

An amended complaint was thereafter filed wherein the plaintiff alleged in addition to the allegations of the original complaint "prior to the commencement of this action, International Harvester Company sold, transferred and assigned to the plaintiff, all of its right, title and interest in and to the notes and the account sued upon." (R. 128). An answer was filed which raised the defense that the complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, admitted that the alleged documents were attached to the original complaint, denied that either the plaintiff or International Harvester Company held the notes sued upon, denied any balance due, raised the affirmative defense of unconscionability, unenforceable penalties, lack of notice of sale to establish deficiencies, improper charges, and further, alleged the actual sale of secured property by plaintiff for sums in excess of the amounts credited to defendants. (R. 120).

A third party complaint was filed against International Harvester based upon the failure of International Harvester to advise the defendants that International Harvester Credit Corp. would not include in its floor plan financing the cost of freight along with the invoice price upon new machines. That thereafter, the plaintiff refused to finance the cost of freight on said machines and committed other wrongful acts which caused the financial collapse of Pioneer Tractor (R. 121-122), and further that certain



wrongful acts on behalf of the plaintiff caused termination of the dealership agreement. (R. 122).

On April 14, 1978, the defendants herein tendered payment to the plaintiff of \$6,000.00 plus the sum of approximately \$5,000.00 in a credit reserve account held by plaintiff. (R. 118).

At a pre-trial held April 21, 1978, the plaintiff claimed a balance due of \$27,012.43. (R. 108). On May 24, 1978, a request for jury trial was filed by the defendants and the jury fee tendered. (R. 106). A motion to strike the jury request was made by the plaintiff primarily on the ground that the action was based upon foreclosure. (R. 94-98). This motion was granted. (R. 65).

At the trial the plaintiff, rather than relying upon the exhibits alleged in the amended complaint and attached to the original complaint relied upon Exhibit "1", a dealer sales and service agreement between the defendant Pioneer and International Harvester Company which has an addendum stapled to the back cover and Exhibit "2" which purports to be an agreement between Pioneer and the plaintiff dated February 10, 1976 which has several exhibits attached thereto.

Exhibit "1" is a sales and service agreement between International Harvester Company and Pioneer, and at page 7 first paragraph, covers sales on credit, and in dealing with interest, the contract provides:

"Such notes or contracts shall mature according to the terms in effect at the time of delivery and draw interest at the rate established by the Company and specified therein." (emphasis added)

Stapled to Exhibit "1" is a purported schedule of Discounts and terms. This schedule is not contained in the body of the agreement which makes up Exhibit "1", which was signed by Wayne Schoenfeld as president of Pioneer, but is stapled to the back cover. It is apparent from the staple holes in the rest of Exhibit "1" and the lack of staple holes in the schedule, that the schedule, at one time or another, was not attached to Exhibit "1", because there is a set of staple holes which go through from cover to cover of the original exhibit, but these holes do not go through the schedule. The schedule, on the 4th page thereof provides as follows:

"Interest on floor plan obligations will be assessed monthly. Before and after maturity rates for the ensuing month will be determined in relation to the "prime rate" in effect at four of seven specified New York City banks on the third Monday of the current month." (emphasis added)

Certain minimum and maximum rates are purportedly set by this paragraph.

Based upon Exhibit "1" and "2", Del Homestead, a witness for the plaintiff, testified over objections of plaintiff as to no foundation at pages 216 and 217 that interest upon the total claim was based upon the prime rate and was the sum of \$5,291.09. The writer, searched Exhibit "1" and "2" for a provision as to interest upon the open account, an alleged balance of over \$21,000.00 and to this writer's knowledge, neither of these documents provided for any rate of interest for charges upon the open account.

Further, at page 213, lines 20-30, R. 214, L. 1-26, Mr. Homestead was asked what the balance was upon the open account and

objections made by defense counsel upon the basis of hearsay, not best evidence and no foundation were overruled and the witness testified at L. 1, page 214 that the balance was \$21,694.26. The witness then conceded that \$1,914.07 of this amount was in error (R. 10, L. 8-12, R. 218) thus leaving a balance of \$19,780.19. (R. 218, L. 12-14). These figures were all used by the Court in arriving at the balance owed in the findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment.

During the time that these amounts were billed to Pioneer the defendant, Wayne Schoenfeld disputed various charges made by International Harvester Company on the account. (R. 219, L. 18-30, R. 220, L. 1-27, R. 383, L. 25-30). International Harvester often sent goods not ordered or sent more goods than were ordered. (R. 303-307, R. 386 L. 5-16, R. 383-386 L. 25-30, R. 408 L. 10-16 R. 401 L. 19-30, R. 402 L. 1-30, R. 403 L. 1-23, R. 386 L. 5-16).

The charges upon the account were not typical open account charges. (Court's own Memorandum Decision, R. 27 & 28).

Exhibit "2" was described by Mr. Homestead as being a document that sets up the financing arrangements between plaintiff and Pioneer for retail financing of agricultural equipment. (R. 178). The dealer's reserve account, was described by this witness as protecting the dealer from astronomical losses. (R. 183) The reserve account for retail contracts on new and used equipment is described in paragraph 8 of Exhibit "E" attached to Exhibit "1" and included therein is a clause which provides that such dealer's reserve account shall be debited with "all losses" paragraph 8:

of Exhibit "E" attached to Exhibit "2", and that after the reserve account has reached \$1,000.00, that losses charged to the Dealer's Reserve Account shall not exceed the credit balance in said account existing at the time of the loss.

It was undisputed that as of December 31, 1976, the Dealer's Reserve Account of Pioneer had a \$5,000.00 balance. (R. 511 and Exhibit "12").

Plaintiff's witness Del Homestead was allowed by the Court to testify orally over objection of defense counsel as to the following losses resulting from retail contracts, which were charged not to the reserve account but the dealer's open account, which charges were included in the balance upon the open account.

a. On a retail installment contract with Myron Jones, a charge of \$2,500.00 was made to Pioneer's open account reversing an alleged credit of \$2,500.00 upon the account and then a charge of \$1,006.86 was also charged as interest upon the retail contract which was not in evidence. (R. 188-190).

b. On a retail contract with Duane Taylor, an alleged dispute by the customer that the finance charge and payments were higher than he the customer had agreed resulted in a charge of \$2,832.46 (R. 191-194), objection was made on the basis of hearsay as to the contentions of the retail customer Jones. (R. 191-193).

c. On a retail contract with William Branch, the customer allegedly withheld \$1,278.35 for an alleged mechanical problem with a used tractor. No contract was in evidence, nor was any testimony other than hearsay evidence to prove any defect or the withholding of funds. (R. 194-196).

d. In the matter of a retail contract of Garth Sweeten, the Court allowed testimony of Mr. Homestead as to the fact that a hitch on a drill was ordered, but was not furnished and without the production of any written contract or without testifying as to whether or not the witness had personal knowledge of this shortage (R. 196-197), Mr. Don Sterrett, sales manager of Pioneer testified that the drills in question were ordered from International Harvester Company with a hitch, but when the drills arrived, the hitch was not included. Pioneer's open account was charged with \$599.03. (R. 343-344).

e. In the matter of Sam Kogianes, evidence of out of Court statements were allowed in to prove that despite a written agreement to the contrary, the customer contended that he was entitled to a different attachment on a combine. (R. 197-200). While the witness contended that Schoenfeld agreed to it, Schoenfeld testified that he only agreed to obtain a different attachment after Homestead threatened to "unwind three (3) contracts" which Kogianes had made, which would have resulted in a loss to the dealership of \$5,000.00 in lost profit. (R. 511-512)

The defendant Pioneer, on the other hand itemized their contentions of the erroneous charges upon the account item by item in Exhibit "12", which was prepared by Mr. Schoenfeld from statements of plaintiff received by Pioneer. (R. 158). Included in this list were the charges from a to c above on retail contract and the \$1,914.07 which plaintiff conceded prior to trial. This list was made available to Mr. Homestead and discussed in a meeting in September of 1977 between Homestead, Critchfield and Schoenfeld.

Also included in Exhibit "12" is a purported charge of "\$10,304.30 in freight which was paid to IH (International Harvester Company) and not refunded in full by 3% deduction claimed by IH." It was the contention of defendants at trial that there was no foundation for such a charge to the open account, that the invoices to support such a charge had never been produced for examination or in Court/and that such a charge bore no reasonable relationship to the expense of International Harvester Company.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING  
EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANTS OWED  
THE PLAINTIFF THE SUM OF \$19,780.19

Plaintiff's witness, Homestead testified over the objections of the defendants upon the grounds of hearsay, no foundation and best evidence, that the books and records of the plaintiff showed that defendants owed to plaintiff the sum of \$1,006.86 for interest charged upon the Myron Jones retail contract and \$21,694.26 which was the balance upon an open account. (R. 211-213). Then Mr. Homestead conceded that \$1,914.07 of these charges were in error. (R.218). The balance arrived at by these figures was the precise figure used in the findings of fact, and judgment entered herein.

The witness then proceeded to enumerate over the objection of defense counsel, certain charges which had been made to the Pioneer account based upon the alleged failure of customers to pay certain retail contracts. Neither the contracts or the records showing payment or non-payment of these contracts were offered or

admitted as evidence.

At the end of plaintiff's case, a motion to strike plaintiff's evidence as being without foundation, not the best evidence and hearsay was taken under advisement by the Court. While this motion was not ruled upon formally, it was apparently denied. No summary of the debits and credits on the open account nor of the items represented by the alleged contracts was made or offered into evidence. Nor was there any evidence offered as to the manner of keeping the books and records of either the plaintiff or its alleged assignor.

The plaintiff, in its argument to the trial Court relied upon the case of State v. Olsen, 287 P 181, 75 U 583 (1930), a criminal case of bank embezzlement where a bank examiner testified orally to a shortage shown upon the books of a bank after a formal audit by the witness. This type of evidence was used in that case solely to show a shortage of dollars, upon the bank books not the reasonableness thereof or whether one person or another was liable for the loss. The case has been followed only in similar cases involving shortages of dollars in this state and has not been cited in this jurisdiction in civil cases where the issues between the parties are whether or not the charges were for goods alleged to be sold and delivered or services alleged to be performed and whether the charges therefor were reasonable or agreed upon.

The line of cases applicable to the case at bar begins with Sprague v. Boyle, 4 U 2d 344, 294 P2d 689 (1956), wherein it was contended by the appellant from an adverse judgment that a



written summary of \$3,295.28 in equipment charges and \$2,289.94 in wages was without foundation and not the best evidence. The Utah Supreme Court held that the schedule was admissable, provided that such a summary of charges must, in order to be admissable be shown to be developed from records, books, or documents, the competency of which has been established and which have been made available for examination by adverse counsel. In that case, the person who prepared the summary testified from first hand knowledge as to how the underlying books were kept and the person had the cancelled checks, invoices and vouchers to support the charges in Court.

In the case of Nalder v. Kellog, 6 U 2d 367, 314 P2d 350 (1957), a case decided one year after Sprague, the Utah Supreme Court ruled that it was reversible error to admit three (3) summaries because some of the figures upon said summaries were not supported by competent evidence.

Subsequently, in the case of Shupe v. Menlove, 18 U 2d 130, 417 P2d 246 (1966), the appellant contended that it was error for the trial Court to exclude such a written summary of charges. This Court ruled that the exclusion was not error, commenting that rejection of such a summary was within the discretion of the trial Court where the appellant was suing upon a construction contract upon a house for costs plus 10% ruling that admission of such a summary was not a matter of right.

A more recent case involving the same type of testimony was Gull Laboratories v. Louis A. Roser Company, No. 15721 filed December 27, 1978, in the Utah Supreme Court, wherein the president



of the plaintiff company testified as to a summary of damages totalling \$65,197.00 that he prepared the summary from the books and records of his company. Over objection by defense counsel that it was not the best evidence, the trial Court admitted the summary. This ruling was held to be reversible error on appeal. This Court cited the Sprague case supra and commented that no foundation was laid as to the cumbersomeness or unavailability of the records, nor was there any testimony as to how the original records were made, i.e., accounting procedures or regularity of making entries. The Court also noted that there was a refusal to produce the original records.

The proper rule is stated in B. Jones, Evidence (5th Ed. 1958) p. 473.

§244--Summaries of Multiple Writings.--

Another exception to the best evidence rule, based on necessity, arises when the primary source of proof consists of numerous documents which cannot be conveniently examined in Court, and the fact to be proved can only be ascertained by an examination of the whole collection. It is well established that in such a case a summary \* \* \* may be given in evidence by any person who has examined the documents and who is skilled in such matters provided the result is capable of being ascertained by calculation.\* \* \*

To the application of this rule, it is essential that the original records or writings be first duly identified and that a sufficient foundation be laid so as to entitle the records or writings themselves to be admitted in evidence. Also, the admissibility of the records themselves as evidence must be established, and they must be available to the opposite party for cross-examination. (emphasis added)

Rule 63 (13) of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides the following exception to the hearsay rule:

"Writings offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove the facts stated therein. If the judge finds that they were made in the

regular course of business at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded, and that the sources of information from which made and the method and circumstance of their preparation were such as to indicate their trustworthiness."

The dealership of Pioneer was closed out in the three (3) weeks following August 6, 1975. Presumably, the books and records of the plaintiff should reflect such a closeout and the various charges which make up the balance sought; yet Exhibit "26" which is a statement prepared by plaintiff on the open account dated April 20, 1977, almost eight (8) months afterwards, shows a balance of \$14,714.35, only 67% of the balance which the plaintiff ultimately contended was due upon the open account. Such books or records cannot be said to be made at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded.

As a part of the alleged amount due upon the open account, there was a charge for \$10,304.60 to the open account, (Exhibit 12, top of 2nd page) which was claimed by International Harvester as a "3% penalty" (Exhibit 27 shows one such charge) which was assessed upon an alleged amount of \$306,000.00 worth of equipment that the plaintiff allegedly took back into its possession. (R. 269-270). None of the credit invoices representing the various pieces of machinery handled in this way were in the possession of the witness Critchfield nor did he produce them for counsel for plaintiff. (R. 281-282).

International Harvester Company and the plaintiff are separate corporations. (R. 221 L. 1). Mr. Homestead, an employee of the plaintiff never testified about how the charges originated, what the books original entries were, or who kept them or in what manner they were kept on behalf of the plaintiff. Nor did he

testify as to how any of these matters were accomplished on the part of International Harvester Company; nor did he testify as to what charges originated with the plaintiff and what charges were originated through International Harvester, also there was no competent evidence that the open account charges of International Harvester Company were in fact assigned to plaintiff.

The trial Court never made any finding as to the books and records of International Harvester or the plaintiff and the way they were kept, but if such a finding were made, it could not be that the entries were made at or about the time of the act, condition or event recorded as required by Rule 63 (13) URE cited above. If such a finding were made, it would be directly opposite to the requirement of Rule 63 (13) URE. Such a rule has been the law of evidence in this state for sixty-five years. In the case of Utah Commercial Savings Bank v. Fox, 44 U 323, 140 P 660 (1914), this Court in reversing a judgment and remanding made the following comment regarding certain book entries which were admitted by the trial Court to show the purpose of a note:

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