1979

International Harvester Credit Corporation v. Pioneer Tractor & Implement, Inc., Wayne A. Schoenfeld and Dora C. Schoenfeld : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

This provision of the Agreement was adhered to in every respect. The farm equipment was transported to the IHC depot in Clearfield, Utah (R. 264) and full credit was given to the dealer for the cost of the equipment plus the freight charges paid by the dealer in connection with its purchase of the equipment (R. 264, 265). The only deduction was the disputed 3% handling charge.

Noel R. Critchfield, the area manager for IHC, supervised the repurchase of the equipment. He testified that approximately \$306,000 worth of inventory was repurchased by IHC from Pioneer pursuant to the Dealer Sales and Service Agreement (R. 264). Applying the 3% handling charge to the inventory which was repurchased resulted in total handling charges of approximately \$9,180. Anticipating the argument that these charges constituted an unenforceable penalty, the Respondent presented evidence showing some of the actual expenses incurred by IHC in connection with the repurchase of the equipment, including:

\$2,000.00 - Itemized out-of-pocket expenses of
IHC employees involved in handling

the return of the equipment,
including transportation, food and
lodging (R. 267, 235, 236).

\$13,800.00- Cost to IHC of providing new credit
terms to dealers purchasing the
equipment. An interest free period
of at least six months is provided
to dealers and the cost to IHC
would be not less than \$13,800.00
(R. 270-273).

\$2,300.00 - Service fee incurred by IHC in
connection with the resale of the
equipment pursuant to regular whole-
sale flooring arrangements (R. 273-
274).

\$18,100.00- TOTAL

In addition, there was testimony that substantial
additional costs were incurred, including long distance
telephone charges (R. 268, 269) and the wages of the people
involved (R. 236, 237). Plaintiff's evidence clearly
showed that the actual costs involved in connection with
the repurchase of the inventory far exceeded the handling
charge in question.

The costs listed above were incurred by IHC,

the party repurchasing the equipment and imposing the handling charge. The terms of the repurchase were settled by the Agreement (Exhibit 1) between Pioneer and IHC. The only concern of Respondent IHCC with this process was to see that it occurred and that funds were generated thereby to apply to the substantial amount owing to it by Pioneer. The net amount resulting from the repurchase by IHC was applied to the Pioneer account.

Since the disputed handling charge was imposed by IHC and the Appellants have not taken issue on appeal with the dismissal of their Third-Party Complaint against IHC, the issue really has no place in this appeal which involves only the claim of IHCC.

Nevertheless, a brief additional discussion of several additional points may be in order. First, the Appellants have argued that the evidentiary support for the costs incurred by IHC was inadequate. The primary witness presenting testimony on the matter was Noel R. Critchfield. Mr. Critchfield is the area manager for IHC (R. 256) and, as such, he supervised and had direct responsibility for the repurchase and the eventual resale of the equipment which was purchased from Pioneer, and the costs connected therewith. No other person had more direct, first hand knowledge of these facts than Mr. Critchfield. Rule 19 of the Utah

Rules of Evidence provides as follows:

"As a prerequisite for the testimony of a witness on a relevant or material matter, there must be evidence that he has personal knowledge thereof, or experience, training or education if such be required."

Second, the actual costs shown by the evidence are sufficient in amount as to eliminate any argument that the handling charge constituted a penalty. The pertinent cases only require that the out-of-pocket costs bear some reasonable relationship to the amount of the agreed charge:

- (1) Perkins v. Spencer, 112 Utah 468, 243 P.2d 446 (1952) - the contractual charge will not be enforced where it is "unconscionable and exorbitant . . . bearing no relationship to the actual damages suffered."
- (2) Johnson v. Carman, 572 P.2d 371 (Utah, 1977) - enforcement denied where the liquidated damages are " . . . grossly excessive and disproportionate to any possible loss."

The undisputed evidence in this case clearly demonstrated that IHC incurred costs far in excess of the handling charge imposed in connection with the repurchase of equipment from the Pioneer inventory. Even if the Appellants' dispute was with IHC, they would have no basis for com-

plaining about the small handling charge. The Respondent, IHCC, did not impose the charge in question and the question of whether it was justified has no place in an appeal of its judgment.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED
ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO PERMIT
A BELATED AMENDMENT OF THE PLEADINGS,
PARTICULARLY SINCE THE EVIDENCE RELATING
TO THE NEW THEORY WAS UNCLEAR AND UNCONVINCING

In POINT VI of their Brief, the Appellants contend that the Trial Court should have permitted an amendment of the pleadings to conform to the evidence. Specifically, the Appellants contend that Exhibit No. 25 was shown during the trial to have been accepted by the parties as a valid agreement reflecting the liability of the Appellants to the Respondent. This contention is completely lacking in merit for a number of reasons.

First, before an amendment to conform to the evidence is proper under Rule 15(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the issue not raised by the pleadings must have been, " . . . tried by express or implied consent of the parties . . . " When the Appellants made their motion to amend at the close of the trial (R. 551), counsel for the Respondent stated as follows:

"Mr. Pugsley: I'd strenuously object, your Honor, I think that's a whole new theory of the case. It comes as a complete news to us that they intended to assert such a theory. I think it's absolutely improper to bring it in at this point." (R. 552)

Thus, there clearly was no consent to including the affirmative defense of "novation" as an issue in the case. Rule 8(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure specifically requires that such affirmative defenses be pleaded. Where they are not and where, as here, the opposing party does not consent to the trial of the issue or to the amendment and asserts both surprise and prejudice in meeting the new issue, it is proper for the Trial Court to deny the motion to amend.

In the case of National Farmers Union Property and Casualty Co. v. Thompson, 4 Utah 2d 7, 286 P.2d 249 (1955), the Court upheld a ruling denying a party the right to rely on an issue not raised in the pleadings where there was no consent to try the issue. In doing so the Court stated that,

"Notwithstanding all of our efforts to eliminate technicalities and liberalize procedure, we must not lose sight of the cardinal principle that under our system of justice, if an issue is to be tried and a party's rights concluded with respect thereto, he must have notice thereof and an opportunity to meet it."

This language has been cited and relied upon by the Court on various occasions since the date of the National Farmers Union case (see e.g. Buehner Block Co. v. Glezos, 6 Utah 2d 226, 310 P.2d 517 (1957)).

In one of the most recent decisions on the issue of a proposed amendment to conform to the evidence, Meyer v. Deluke, 123 Utah 2d 74, 457 P.2d 966 (1969), the Court upheld a ruling of the trial court denying a motion to amend on the ground that the defendants had known the facts at the time that they filed their answer but had failed to assert the affirmative defense. Under those facts the trial court was held to have discretion in denying the motion to amend and its decision to do so was upheld.

In the instant case it was particularly appropriate for the motion to amend to be denied since the evidence with respect to the exhibit in question was confusing and conflicting and the exhibit does not on its face reflect a new agreement or a waiver of anything.

In their brief the Appellants contend that Exhibit 25 constitutes a novation and a waiver of the 3% handling charge. There was no evidence that it represented any such thing. Defendant Wayne Schoenfeld testified that Exhibit 25 was prepared during a meeting with representatives of the IHC and IHCC and that the result

of the calculations was an agreed obligation to the Respondent of approximately \$44,000 (R. 506, 507). This is substantially more than the Respondent is claiming. The second large page of Exhibit 25 was, according to Mr. Schoenfeld, prepared and executed for the purpose of securing the \$44,000 obligation which was agreed upon (R. 507). It is remarkable that the Appellants contend that a document reflecting a \$44,000 obligation (more than the Respondent's Judgment) was a novation, or a new contractual obligation which was substituted for an old one. There was no testimony with respect to payments thereon or a reduction of the obligation and, if Exhibit 25 was in fact a novation, the only alternative for the Trial Court would have been to have entered judgment in favor of the Respondent in the amount of \$44,000.

The testimony of Mr. Homestead on cross-examination with respect to the meeting with Mr. Schoenfeld or another one shortly thereafter was that the parties could not agree on the amount owing and that Mr. Schoenfeld disagreed with a number of the items that the Respondent was claiming. (R. 219, 220).

Thus, the record with respect to Exhibit 25 was not clear. If it did represent a novation, the agreed obligation was well in excess of the amount claimed by the

Respondent in this suit. Under these circumstances, and particularly in view of the Respondent's strong objection to the proposed amendment to conform to the evidence, the Trial Court was clearly justified in refusing to permit the Appellants to rely on a new and novel theory which they had not pled and which the evidence did not support.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN
INCLUDING AS PART OF THE JUDGMENT
ENTERED HEREIN INTEREST IN THE
AMOUNT OF \$5,291.09

The Trial Court found (R. 23) that interest on the principal amount of the claim in the amount of \$5,291.09 was supported by the evidence and the agreements entered into between the parties, and included this amount as part of the Judgment (R. 20).

The Respondent's claim to interest was based upon the provisions of the Schedule of Discounts and Terms which is a part of Exhibit 1. Page 4 of the Schedule includes the following language:

"Interest owed on floor plan obligations will be assessed and due monthly. Before and after-maturity rates for the ensuing month will be determined in relation to the prime rate in effect at four of seven specified New York City banks on the third Monday of the current month. The before-maturity rate will be one and one-half (1 1/2) percent and the after-maturity rate will be three and one-half (3 1/2) percent

over the prime rate. The minimum rates established by the Company are eight (8) percent before maturity and ten (10) percent after maturity. If the interest rates determined as set forth herein exceed rates permitted by law, then the highest rates permitted by law shall apply.

The after-maturity rate determined by the preceding paragraph shall apply for calculating interest due on open-account obligations not paid at maturity."

The Respondent's principal witness, Delbert L. Homestead, testified with respect to the calculation of interest based upon the language of the Agreement. His testimony (R. 216, 217) was that the interest had been calculated on the basis of 3 1/2% over the prime rate, that the dealer had been advised monthly of the interest rate that applied for that month and that, applying the applicable interest rates for the period in question to the principal amount of the obligation of the Appellants, interest in the amount of \$5,291.09 was due. Appellants' counsel failed to cross-examine with respect to this testimony and no evidence was offered tending to call into question the way that the interest was calculated or the amount of the interest due.

It is remarkable that the Appellants contend that the interest rate to be applied to the open account obligation was not specified. The language of the Agreement which is quoted above specifically applies the interest rate

used by Mr. Homestead to " . . . open-account obligations not paid at maturity."

In view of the fact that the written agreement between the parties expressly provides for interest and the interest calculation of the only witness who testified with respect to the matter was made in specific compliance with the contractual provision, there is simply no basis for the Appellants to complain about this part of the Judgment. The dates when the obligations became due on the flooring financing and the open account were covered by the testimony of Mr. Homestead (R. 181, 182).

Having established the dates when the obligations became due, the rate of interest agreed to between the parties and the principal amount to which the interest applied, the calculation of the amount of interest due was a simple matter and, as indicated above, the testimony of Mr. Homestead thereon was neither challenged through cross-examination nor called into question by any contrary evidence. The interest could be and it was calculated with certainty and it thus satisfied the cases cited by the Appellants, including Fell v. Union Pacific Railway Co., 32 Utah 101, 88 Pac. 1003 (1907), Anderson v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 583 P.2d 101 (Utah, 1978) and Uintah Pipeline Corporation v. White Superior Company, 546 P.2d 885 (Utah, 1976).

In view of the Appellants' attempt to avoid the payment of interest which was specifically agreed to by contract, the following language from the case of Farnsworth v. Jensen, 117 Utah 494, 217 P.2d 571 (1950) seems appropriate for consideration:

"Conventional interest in the ordinary acceptance of the term is such interest as the parties to a contract have agreed upon as part of their contract, and is as much an integral part of the debt as the principal itself; and while it forms an element in computing the amount of recovery, it does so in the way that a provision of the contract limiting liability, or any other contractual provision as to the amount involved in the contract, does".

POINT VII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN STRIKING THE APPELLANTS' DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL AND IN PROCEEDING TO HEAR AND DECIDE THE MATTER WITHOUT A JURY

POINT VIII of the Appellants' Brief contends at the start that it was error for the Trial Court to deny them a trial by jury. In the discussion of the matter, however, the Appellants concede that the case had "equitable aspects" and that " . . . a jury could have acted in an advisory capacity . . . "

The Appellants filed a Request for Jury Trial on May 24, 1978 (R. 106). On June 19, 1978 the Respondent filed a Motion to Strike (R. 94) and a Memorandum in Support

(R. 95). Contrary to Rule 2.8(b) of the Rules of Practice in the District Courts, the Appellants failed to file answering points and authorities and, on August 21, 1978, the Motion was granted (R. 65).

Rule 38(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that,

"The right of trial by jury as declared by the Constitution or as given by statute shall be preserved to the parties."

Thus, the right to a jury trial must be predicated upon a constitutional provision or a statute. Article I Section 10 of the Constitution of Utah provides as follows:

"In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. In courts of general jurisdiction, except in capital cases, a jury shall consist of eight jurors. In courts of inferior jurisdiction a jury shall consist of four jurors. In criminal cases the verdict shall be unanimous. In civil cases three-fourths of the jurors may find a verdict. A jury, in civil cases, shall be waived unless demanded."

While this provision recognizes that there are civil actions in which a jury may be demanded, it does not by its terms guarantee a jury trial, as a matter of right, in civil actions. That right remains "inviolate" only in "capital cases". Therefore, the right to a jury trial in civil cases is neither an absolute matter of right nor is it conferred by the Constitution. Since the language of the Utah jury trial provision does not specifically require a

right to jury trial, the requirement should not be created by implication. See, Degnan, Right to Civil Trial in Utah: Constitution and Statute, 8 Utah L. Rev. 97, 121-22 (1962).

The other basis for a jury trial provided for in Rule 38(a) is "by statute". Utah Code Annotated §78-21-1 (1953) provides:

"In actions for the recovery of specific real or personal property, with or without damages, or for money claimed as due upon contract or as damages for breach of contract, or for injuries, an issue of fact may be tried by a jury, unless a jury trial is waived or a reference is ordered. [Emphasis added.]

By its terms, the statute is permissive rather than mandatory because it states that certain types of action "may be tried by a jury" and not that they must be as a matter of right.

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